


 

 

Proposal B1 – Extend the short-term credit product intervention order 

On 30 July 2019 and 20 January 2023, we provided the enclosed submissions in 
response to Consultation Paper 316 and Consultation Paper 355. 
 
We continue to assist clients through our services who have experienced significant 
detriment due to loans offered prior to 15 July 2022 under the short-term lending 
model. 
 
For the reasons discussed in our 2019 and 2022 submissions, we agree with ASIC’s 
proposal to extend the short-term credit order. Given the Creditors’ conduct in offering 
subsequent credit products after the initial short term credit order, we are of the view 
that extending the short-term credit order is necessary to prevent further harm to 
consumers.  We also agree with the proposal that the short-term credit order should be 
extended to remain in force until it is revoked or sunsets, given the previous deliberate 
conduct by the Creditors to avoid regulatory measures.  
 
We have reviewed our data to consider the impacts of the short-term credit order and 
have found no further clients who sought assistance from LawRight for short-term 
credit loans provided after the 15 July 2022 order. We consider this to indicate the 
efficacy of these orders.  
 
For the reasons provided above, our response to the questions posed in the 
consultation paper is that: 

• B1Q1 – We agree with ASIC’s proposal to extend the 2022 short term credit or-
der.  

• B1Q2 – We agree with ASIC’s proposal that the 2022 short term credit order 
should be extended until is revoked or sunsets.  

• B1Q4 – In our view, the 2022 short term credit order has been effective to date in 
reducing the risk of significant detriment to retail clients in the continuing credits 
market.  

 
Proposal C1 – Extend the continuing credit product intervention order 
 
After the making of the product intervention order on 15 July 2022, we have continued to 
assist clients impacted by the Creditors’ lending behaviour. However, as with the impact 
of the short-term credit order, we consider the continuing credit order has been effective 
in stopping this type of lending conduct as we have had no clients seek assistance with a 
continuing credit contract obtained after 15 July 2022.  Given the effect of the order in 
preventing consumers from being offered these products, we agree with ASIC’s proposal 
to extend the continuing credit contracts order. 
 
However, since the order was made on 15 July 2022, we have assisted three clients who 
were provided No Upfront Charge Loan Agreements by BSF Solutions Pty Ltd along with 
an Account Keeping Agreement by Cigno Australia Pty Ltd. These products were 
provided to clients in November and December 2022. All three clients obtained $250 of 
credit and have combined debt of $966.86. One client sought assistance from us after 



 

 

paying over $300 to Cigno Australia Pty Ltd who alleged they continued owing a further 
$603.84. This amounts to over 368% charged for the fees payable on the loan.  
 
A copy of a No Upfront Charge Loan Agreement we have obtained copies of include the 
clause: 
 

2.1 No interest charged or any other fees are payable by you for the provision of 
credit by us. 

 
These No Upfront Charge Loan Agreements appear to have been designed by the 
Creditors to continue to circumvent responsible lending provisions within the National 
Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth) (‘the Credit Act’) by relying on the 
requirement that credit include a fee for the provision of credit, per s 5(1)(c) of the 
National Credit Code.  We understand that the 2022 Federal Court decision Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission v BHF Solutions Pty Ltd (2022) 293 FCR 330 
has dealt with the issue of Cigno Pty Ltd charging consumers for the provision of credit.   
 
We consider the No Upfront Charge Loan Agreement to be clear evidence from the 
Creditors that these companies are willing to redesign their credit products in an attempt 
to circumvent product intervention orders from ASIC and regulatory measures of the 
Credit Act.  
 
While we understand that Cigno is no longer offering credit products to consumers, the 
behaviour of the companies involved and their directors, shows a persistent pattern of 
seeking to use exemptions in the Act to provide harmful products to vulnerable 
consumers.   
 
Therefore, we agree that the 2022 continuing credit contracts order should be extended 
so that it remains in force until it is revoked or sunsets. We consider the lack of 
continuing credit contracts offered to our clients after 15 July 2022 to demonstrate the 
efficacy of the continuing credit contract order in preventing future harm to consumers.  
 
For the reasons provided above, our response to the questions posed in the 
consultation paper is that: 

• C1Q1 – We agree with ASIC’s proposal to extend the 2022 continuing credit con-
tracts order.  

• C1Q2 – We agree with ASIC’s proposal that the 2022 continuing credit contracts 
order should be extended until is revoked or sunsets? 

• C1Q4 – In our view, the 2022 continuing credit contracts order has been effective 
to date in reducing the risk of significant detriment to retail clients in the continu-
ing credits market.  

 
 
 
 
 
 











 

For the reasons provided above, our response to the questions posed in the 
Consultation paper is that: 

• D2Q1 – We consider that continuing credit contracts, when issued to retail clients 
in the way described in paragraph 48, have significant detriment to retail clients.  

• D2Q2 – We are aware that Cigno and BHFS are issuing continuing credit 
contracts in the way described in paragraph 48 of the Consultation paper.  

• D2Q4 – We agree with the proposal to make a continuing credit contracts 
product intervention order by legislative instrument as set out in the draft product 
intervention order  

Thank you for considering these submissions.  
 
Yours faithfully 

Stephen Grace 
Managing Lawyer 
Community Health Justice Partnerships  
















